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Introduction

1. Following the Order of i h March 2007,1 Court Appointed Counsel for Augustine Gbao hereby

files a public version of its Defence Materials.

Procedural History

2. On 30 October 2006, the Trial Chamber ordered each of the defence teams to file, by the 16th

February 2007, the following documents:2

a. A "core" and "back up" witness list;

b. An indication as to whether the Accused will testify at trial;

c. A list of expert witnesses;

d. An indication of common witnesses;

e. A list of exhibits;

f. A chart indicating, for each paragraph of the indictment, the testimonial and documentary

evidence upon which the Defence will rely to defend the Accused against the allegations

contained therein.

3. In addition, the Trial Chamber requested each of the defence teams to submit a joint agreement

of agreed facts and matters which are not in dispute, as well as a joint statement of contested

matters of fact and law.3

4. Finally, the Trial Chamber scheduled a Pre-Defence Conference for the 20th of March 2007.4

5. On 7th February 2007, the Trial Chamber, following a request by the defence teams,S granted an

I Order to reclassify and review defence materials, Trial Chamber I, i h March 2007
2 Scheduling Order Concerning the Preparation and Commencement of the Defence Case of 30 October 2006, Trial

Chamber I, paragraphs 1. (Hereinafter "Scheduling Order of 30 October 2006").
3 Ibid, paragraph 3.
4 Ibid, paragraph 4.
5 Defence Application for an Adjournment of the 16th February 2007 Filing, Sesay Defence Team, 24 January 2007 ;

Kallon Defence Application to Vary the 16th February Filing Date, Kallon Defence Team, 28th January 2007;Gbao
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3

extension of time and ordered the above mentioned materials to be filed no later than 5th March

2007,4:00pm.

6. On 2ih February 2007, the Trial Chamber granted the request by the Sesay defence team for an

extension of time to file the Joint Statement of Agreed Facts6 and ordered the defence teams to

file this joint statement no later than 7 days after the return of the Accused Issa Hassan Sesay in

the jurisdiction of the Special Court.7 On 2 March 2007, this team filed a request for an

extension of time in this respect, in case the Chamber disagreed with our interpretation of its

Orders.8

7. On i h March 2007, the Trial Chamber ordered the Gbao defence team to file a public version of

its defence materials to be made available to the public.9

Testimony of the Accused on Trial

8. Pursuant to the Scheduling Order, the Chamber seeks an indication as to whether the Accused

will testify.lO It is not yet decided whether this would serve the interests of the Accused. This

decision requires further consultation with the Accused in the light of all the evidence. Without

wishing to compromise legal privilege, the Defence can indicate that there are as yet unresolved

issues which need to be settled before this decision can be made. The Chamber will be aware of

the delicate nature of the lawyer client relationship (as evidenced by the history of the

proceedings). Addressing this issue with the Accused requires careful consideration of what his

testimony can add, as well as extreme caution and patience in ensuring that the Accused fully

understands the implications. The relationship between counsel and the Accused has improved

significantly and this position must be preserved at all costs at this critical stage in the

Submissions on Sesay Request for Modification of Time Limits for Filing, Gbao Defence Team, 29th January 2007.
6 Defence Application for Extension of Time to File a "Joint Statement of Agreed Facts", Sesay Defence Team, 26th

February 2007.
7 Decision on Sesay Defence Application for Extension of Time to File a "Joint Statement of Agreed Facts", Trial Chamber

I, 27th February 2007.
8 Gbao Request for Extension of Time for Filing of Joint Statement, Gbao Defence Team, 2nd March 2007.
9 Order to reclassify and review defence materials, Trial Chamber I, 7th March 2007.
10 Scheduling Order, paragraph l(b).
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proceedings. In Counsel's submission, to force the issue now would be inconsistent with the

Accused right to testify.

9. The Defence therefore wishes, with the leave of the Chamber, to reserve its decision as to

whether the Accused will testify until later in the proceedings. However, if the Chamber deems

that the Gbao defence team must be compelled to make a statement on this, then

the Gbao defence team states for the record that the Accused will testify, reserving its right to

change that position and making it clear at the same time that this is not a fully considered or

firm position.

Expert Witnesses

10. At this stage of the proceedings, this defence team has not decided upon any particular expert.

Indeed, satisfactory experts have not yet been identified. In addition, the team is concerned not to

duplicate or undermine the expert testimony of the first two Accused. The team will continue to

search for appropriate experts, produce reports as quickly as possible but preferably in the light

of other Defence expert testimony and where appropriate seek the leave of the Chamber to call

those experts. However, we can indicate at this stage that, subject to our evaluation of other

expert testimony put forward by other Accused, we intend to identify and use an expert on the

nature of guerrilla movements with particular reference to the RUF.

Common Witness List

11. The defence team for Augustine Gbao filed a motion for non disclosure of the witnesses' names

to the other defence teams on 14 February 2007. 11 Following the decision by the Trial

Chamber,12 the defence team for Augustine Gbao will not share the witnesses' information with

the other RUF defence teams and therefore is in the impossibility of participating in any

11 Confidential Gbao Motion for Delayed Disclosure and Related Measures for Witnesses, Gbao Defence Team, 14
February 2007.

12 Decision on Gbao Defence Motion for Immediate Protective Measures and Confidential Motion for delayed Disclosure
and Related Measures for Witnesses, Trial Chamber I, 1 March 2007.
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common witness list. With respect to paragraph l(d) of the Scheduling Order of 30 October

2006, it is therefore indicated that no common witnesses have been identified at this stage.

Materials Submitted

12. The defence team for the third Accused, Augustine Gbao, hereby submits the Defence materials

as requested by the Trial Chamber in the Scheduling Order of 30 October 2006:

g. The Witness List pursuant to paragraph 1 (a) of the Scheduling Order of 30 October

2006, contained in Annex A of the present filing; The current witness list contains 66

core witnesses, who are indicated in bold, and 13 back up witnesses.

h. The Exhibit List pursuant to paragraph 1 (e) of the Scheduling Order of 30 October 2006,

contained in Annex B of the present filing;

1. The Indictment Chart pursuant to paragraph 1(f) of the Scheduling Order of 30 October

2006, contained in Annex C of the present filing;

Andreas 0'Shea

'/
/'
~~

For Augustine Gbao

19 March 2007.
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Annex A

WITNESS LIST AND SUMMARY OF THE FACTS ON WHICH THE WITNESSES WILL TESTIFY

Pursuant to Rule 73ter (iii)
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The core witnesses are in bold.

1 B2 Prior to Testimony: All counts; Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Krio
paragraphs 17, Person.

Delayed Disclosure; 29-34 and 36- The witness will testify that Augustine
Pseudonym. 39. 2 hours. Gbao never carried arms nor had child

combatants. In addition, the witness will
During Testimony: confirm that Augustine Gbao was never

a G5 or a MP commander but strictly
Screening Device. acted against killers of the innocent,

rapists, looters and those who harassed
civilians - taking disciplinary action.

The Prosecutor Against Issa Hassan Sesay, Morris KaHon, Augustine Gbao, Case No. SCSL -2004-15-T
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2 B43 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Paragraphs 17~ ITestify
29-34, 37, 43, Person.
Count 1-2;
counts 3-5 para. I 4 hours.
45; counts 6-9
para. 54; counts
10-11 para. 61;
count 12; counts
15-18.

in I Makeni Crime Base I Krio

The witness, a RUF member, will testify
of the arrival of Augustine Gbao into the
RUF. The witness will explain that in
1996 Augustine Gbao was appointed as
the IDU overall commander, charged
with the investigation and punishment of
war criminals. The witness will also
testify that Augustine Gbao was not a
combatant and did not have any child
soldier around him. As far as the
Lebanese shop incident is concerned, the
witness will give evidence that Augustine
Gbao cannot have done it, as he was the
one always protecting the civilian
population.
B43 will also testify that Augustine Gbao
was against the UNAMSIL abduction
but that he has not been listened to.
Finally, B43 will give insight into the
motives, behaviour and reputation of
some prosecution witnesses.
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Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym. I All counts.

3 B82 Prior to Testimony:

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Paragrap~s 29-\ Testify
34,36- 39, 43. person.

6 hours.

in I Makeni and Kailahun Crime Base

The witness was a high RUF official who
personally knew Augustine Gbao. The
witness will testify that Augustine Gbao
was not a member of the Junta
Government. The witness will also testify
about the structure and operations of
both IDU and Joint Security Board, and
will confirm that Augustine Gbao was
never on the frontline.
In addition, the witness was present
during the event regarding the Kamajors
in Kailahun. The witness will testify that
Augustine Gbao ordered to let 45
suspected Kamajors go free, and that it
was Mosquito who ordered the execution
of the 65. Furthermore the witness will
testify that when the 65 alleged
Kamajors were in detention, Augustine
Gbao was taking care of them. Finally
the witness will testify that Augustine
Gbao was not present at the meeting in
Buedu, where the plans to attack
Freetown were made.

English

The Prosecutor Against Issa Hassan Sesay, Morris Kallon, Augustine Gbao, Case No. SCSL -2004-15-T
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4 B6 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Command and
individual
responsibility
paragraphs 36 ­
39; Counts 1-2;
counts 3-5 para.
49; count 6-9
para. 58; count
10-11 para. 61;
count 12; count
13 para. 74;
count 14 para.
77; counts 15­
18.

Testify
Person.

3 hours.

in I Kailahun Crime Base I Krio

The witness will state that as security
commander Augustine Gbao's greatest
concern was safeguarding the lives and
properties of civilians from armed men.
The witness will testify that Augustine
Gbao gave clear instructions that
harassment, intimidation, rape and
looting must stop. The witness will
confirm that Augustine Gbao did not use
child soldiers and was never an MP or
G5 commander. The witness will also
testify that Augustine Gbao was not
present during the execution of the 65 in
Kailahun. According to the witness,
Mosquito gave the order with a threat of
death to those who would not execute
this order. The witness will speak about
the UNAMSIL abductions, explaining
that the information was received that
men had been disarmed forcefully and
that Augustine Gbao was part of the
investigation team working on this issue.
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5 B69 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 17, Testify in Sandiallu (Kailahun) Crime Base Krio
37, 42, 43 ; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; The witness will testify that Augustine
Pseudonym. Counts 1-2; 2 hours. Gbao did not use forced labour. The

counts 6-9, witness will also give evidence on the
During Testimony: para. 58; counts relationship between Augustine Gbao

10-11, para. 61; and the civilians. In particular the
Screening Device. count 13, para. witness will give evidence that Augustine

74; count 14, Gbao was not involved in rape, looting,
para.77. destruction of property and killings.

6 B78 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 17, Testify in Kai1ahun Crime Base Krio/English
29-34,37-38. Person.

Delayed Disclosure; The witness will describe the relationship
Pseudonym. Counts 1-2; 3 hours. between Augustine Gbao and the civilians.

counts 3-5, para. In particular, the witness will testify that
During Testimony: 49; count 10-11, Augustine Gbao was encouraging the

para. 61; count medical staff of the RUF to respect captives
Screening Device. 13, para.74. and civilian.
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7 B11 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Para 36- 39'1 Testify
Counts 1-2, 3-5 Person.
para 49; counts
6-9, para. 55, 57 I 4 hours.
and 58; counts
10-11 para 65
and count 12.

in I Kailahun and Makeni crime base I Krio

This witness will explain that innocent
killing, raping, capturing of child
combatants and women was prohibited
by Foday Sankoh and Augustine Gbao
would ensure that these things did not
happen. The penalty set down by Sankoh
was execution. The witness will explain
how Augustine Gbao recommended the
release of a number of people captured
after investigation and how Mosquito,
hearing this, executed another batch.
B11 will explain how Mosquito killed ten
people himself and threatened to kill
those who would not carry out
executions. Augustine Gbao was not
consulted or in the picture.
The witness will further state that
Augustine Gbao's arrival in Makeni led
to a dramatic reduction in harassment of
civilians and looting of property. Finally,
B11 will state that Augustine Gbao was
not a combatant and was never G5 or
MP, nor did he have child soldiers.
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8 B15 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 29- Testify in Makeni Crime Base Krio
34, 37, 38, and Person.

Delayed Disclosure; 39. The witness will testify about Augustine
Pseudonym. 3 hours. Gbao's behaviour towards the civilians.

Counts 3-5, More specifically, the witness will
During Testimony: para. 51; explain that Augustine Gbao saved his

life and the lives of other children who
Screening Device. were going to be executed by the RUF.

Furthermore, the witness will give
information as to the role of Augustine
Gbao as Overall IDU commander. The
witness will focus on command
responsibility, explaining that Augustine
Gbao did not have any importance
within the RUF.
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9 B70 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 33, Testify in Makeni Crime Base Krio
38-39; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; The witness will discuss the UNAMSIL
Pseudonym. Counts 15-18; 4 hours. abduction. The witness will testify on how

para. 83. Augustine Gbao and Ishmael Kamara went
During Testimony: to Colonel Ngondi (Kenbatt commander)

and what happened then. The witness will
Screening Device. explain the actions taken by Augustine

Gbao in order to avoid the abduction, but
that it was vain. Finally, the witness will
name key figures who were actively
involved in the abduction, while testifying
that Augustine Gbao was not present.

The Prosecutor Against Issa Hassan Sesay, Morris KaHon, Augustine Gbao, Case No. SCSL -2004-15-T
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10 I B16 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Paragraphs 29-1 Testify
34, 38 and 39. Person.

Count 14, para. I 3 hours.
81.

in I Makeni Crime Base

The witness will testify about command
responsibility. Especially, the witness
will describe the role of Augustine Gbao
as the IDU Commander. The witness will
give evidence that Augustine Gbao in
charge of discipline and investigations of
the RUF members who did not comply
with the RUF rules.

In addition, the witness will testify that
Augustine Gbao was preventing the
destruction of civilian property. Indeed,
the witness was present when Augustine
Gbao prevented some RUF members
from breaking down a place where
civilians were used to play draft.

Krio

The Prosecutor Against Issa Hassan Sesay, Morris Kallon, Augustine Gbao, Case No. SCSL -2004-15-T
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11 B5 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 36 - Testify in Kailahun and Makeni Crime Base Krio
39; Count 1-2; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; count 4 para.49. Witness will speak of ideology of the
Pseudonym. 3 hours. movement. The witness will state that

Augustine Gbao was not G5 or MP, but
During Testimony: instead was strict in implementing the

laws of the movement. The witness will
Screening Device. give an insight into Augustine Gbao's

character. The witness will also state that
Augustine Gbao never carried guns or
walked with security and did not have
child soldiers.
The witness will testify on the 65 killings
in Kailahun, stating that 45 people were
released after an investigation was done
under Augustine Gbao's orders. The
witness will establish that Mosquito was
the one who ordered the killing of 65 still
in jail
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12 B3 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 17; Testify in Makeni Crime Base Krio
29-34; 37; 39; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; 43. Counts 1-2; This witness will give evidence on how
Pseudonym. counts 3-5 para. 2 hours. RUF protected civilians and how

51; counts 10-11 disciplinary action was taken against
During Testimony: para. 65; count soldiers who did wrong to civilians. The

12; 13 para.73; witness will explain how Augustine Gbao
Screening Device. count 14 para. was strict when it came to discipline.

81. Finally the witness will testify that
Augustine Gbao walked without security
or child combatants.
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13 B52 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

All counts
(command
responsibility).
Paragraphs 29­
34,36-39;

Counts 1-2;
count 4, paras.
45,49.

Testify
Person.

4 hours.

in I Kailahun and Buedu Crime Base IKrio/
English

The witness will testify that Augustine .
Gbao was in Kailahun on January 6Th

when the AFRC entered Freetown. This
proves that Augustine Gbao was not
present in Waterworks-Buedu when the
meeting "operation no living things" was
planned.
The witness will also testify that Sam
Bockarie ("Mosquito") had send
Augustine Gbao to work on the highway
between Kailahun and Kono, following
Augustine Gbao opposition to the 65
killings
In addition, the witness will elaborate on
the activities in Buedu (Defence
headquarters) where Sam Bockarie was
based, and especially will talk about the
radio communication system.
Furthermore, the witness will testify
about the RUF command structure,
starting from Foday Sankoh. The
witness will give evidence that Augustine
Gbao had in fact little freedom to do
anything, expect from orders given by
his superiors.

I The PlOsecotOl AgJinst Issa Hassan Sesay, MUllis Kallun, Augustine Gbau, Case Nu. SCSL -2004-15-T I f3 'il,
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B19

B64

Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Para. 17, 29-34, I Testify
37-39, 43; Person.
Counts 1-2;
counts 6-9, I 2 hours.
para. 57; count
12; count 14,
para.8l.

Paragraphs 29-1 Testify
34, 36-39. Person.

All counts 12 hours
(command min.
responsibility).

in I Makeni Crime Base

The witness will testify that Augustine
Gbao was never the G-5 Commander
but the overall security commander of
the RUF in Makeni and its environs. The
witness will give an insight on Augustine
Gbao's relationship with the people and
also testify to the fact that he never used
child soldiers, and was never involved in
the acts of looting and rape of innocent
civilians.

in I Kailahun Crime Base

The witness will testify that there were
30 I many independent operations units, and

that Augustine Gbao was never in
control of them. More specifically the
witness will give evidence on the role of
the IDU, including the relationship with
Augustine Gbao.
The witness will testify that Augustine
Gbao was in Kailahun when the AFRC
seized power in 1997.

Krio

Kriol
English
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16 B17 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 29- Testify in Makeni Crime Base Krio
34,38 and 39. Person.

Delayed Disclosure; The witness will testify on the role of
Pseudonym. Counts 1-2; 3 hours. Augustine Gbao as the IDU commander.

counts 3-5, para. In addition, the witness personally
During Testimony: 51; counts 10-11, witnessed that Augustine Gbao was

para. 65; count saving the people from Makeni from the
Screening Device. 14, para. 81. atrocities committed by the Rebels. The

witness will also confirm that Augustine
Gbao was persuading people to stop
hiding.
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17 B75 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 17, Testify in Makeni Crime Base Krio
29-34, 38, 41; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; Counts 15-18 The witness will testify on the role,
Pseudonym. para. 83. 2 hours 30 min. activities and also on the personality of

Augustine Gbao.
During Testimony: Furthermore, the witness will discuss the

UNAMSIL abduction, testifying that
Screening Device. Augustine Gbao did a lot of efforts to try to

solve the issue diplomatically. The witness
will testify that Augustine Gbao went to
Ngondi to discuss the matter.
The witness was physically present when
Augustine Gbao went to independence
square and advised the other commanders
and ex-combatants not to attack UNAMSIL
and wait orders from Foday Sankoh.
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18 B14 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Paragraphs 29-1 Testify
34; Count 1; 3-5, Person.
para. 51; counts
15-18, para. 83. I 3 hours.

in I Makeni Crime Base I English

B14 will speak of Augustine Gbao career
progression within the RUF. The witness
witnessed those who had arrested the
peacekeepers, and will testify that
Augustine Gbao was not part of it. The
witness will state that Augustine Gbao
always defended civilians against
harassment, raping, looting, etc.
The witness will also testify to Augustine
Gbao's humanitarian character. More
specifically, B14 will speak of an incident
where Augustine Gbao provided food for
an orphanage. Fina.l
a.lso give evi
~tigusti..eGftao's
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19 B22 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Paragraphs 17, I Testify
29-34,37-39, 43; Person.
Counts 1-2;
counts 3-5 I 3 hours.
paras. 49, 51;
counts 15-18.

in I Makeni and Kailahun Crime Base I Krio

The witness will testify that Augustine
Gbao was not a G5 commander.
Furthermore, the witness will confirm
that Augustine Gbao was gave trainees
instructions not to harass, intimidate or
molest civilians. B22 will also testify that
Augustine Gbao made clear that the
RUF movement was against crimes and
that if any was committed punishment
would be severe. The witness will
confirm that Augustine Gbao was
preaching the ideology of the RUF,
which was to protect the civilian
population. Finally the witness will
testify that Augustine Gbao was not
responsible for the UNASMIL incident.
As for the 65 killed in Kailahun, the
witness will explain that Augustine Gbao
was only a subordinate to the General
"Mosquito", who ordered the execution
and therefore did not have the power to
prevent the killings.
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20 B76 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 17, Testify III Kailahun Crime Base Krio
29-34,37-38. Person.

Delayed Disclosure; The witness will describe the way
Pseudonym. Counts 1-2; 2 hours. Augustine Gbao used to talk to the medical

counts 3-5, para. staff and encourage them to correctly treat
During Testimony: 49; count 10-11, civilians and captured members of other

para. 61; count fighting parties.
Screening Device. 13, para.74.
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21 B23 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Paragraphs 29-\ Testify
34, 37-39; Count Person.
12; counts 15-18;

5 hours.

in I Makeni Crime Base I Krio

While with the RUF, the witness got to
know Augustine Gbao as the overall
security commander whose major role
was to track and investigate criminals.
The witness will testify that Augustine
Gbao never used child soldiers and to the
contrary, that he was the one who gave
instructions that child soldiers be taken
away from commanders and handed
over to CARITAS. The witness will
testify that Augustine Gbao was never
responsible for the kidnapping of the UN
peacekeepers; to the contrary, he did all
he could to ensure that the problem was
solved diplomatically.
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22 B61 Prior to Testimony: All counts Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Mendel
(command Person. Krio

Delayed Disclosure; responsibility). The witness will testify that Augustine
Pseudonym. Paragraphs 29- 2 hours. Gbao was not a MP commander and was

34,36-39. not charged of looking into the MP's
During Testimony: behaviour. In other words, the witness

will testify that Augustine Gbao had no
Screening Device. control over the MP's and their actions.

The Prosecutor Against Issa Hassan Sesay, Morris KaHon, Augustine Gbao, Case No. SCSL -2004-15-T
Augustine Gbao Witness List
5 March 2007

21 ~
~

o
4J



23 B18 Prior to Testimony: Para. 17, 37-39, Testify in Makeni Crime Base Krio
43; Counts 1-2, Person.

Delayed Disclosure; count 13 para The witness was in Makeni when the
Pseudonym. 73. 2 hours 30 AFRC overthrow the SLPP government

min. and called upon the RUF. During the
During Testimony: time, the RUF lived together with the

civilian population in Makeni. RUF
Screening Device. soldiers captured the witness and took

the witness on a food-finding mission.
They got a lot of rice, which they made
the witness carry. On their way, they
came across Augustine Gbao who
reprimanded the soldiers for making
civilians who they were fighting for
suffer. The witness will testify that
Augustine Gbao disarmed the soldiers in
question and punished them for making
the civilian carry such a heavy load and
set the witness free. The witness will
always remember Augustine Gbao for
his kindness to civilians.
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24 B32 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Paragraphs 17, ITestify
37, 43; Count 1- Person.
2; 3-5, para. 51;
6-9 para. 57; 10- I 3 hours.
11 para. 65;
count 12; count
13 para. 73;
count 14 para.
81; count 15-18.

in I Makeni Crime Base I Krio

The witness was in the northern region
around 1999. The RUF was searching for
the witness on the allegations that the
witness was spy. When they caught B32,
the case was investigated at the
insistence of Augustine Gbao and the
witness was found innocent. Thereafter,
the witness joined RUF and worked with
Augustine Gbao, whose role was to
ensure that civilians were not
intimidated or harassed by soldiers. The
witness will testify that Augustine Gbao
was never responsible for unlawful acts
like looting, use of child soldiers, rape,
and was not responsible for the arrest of
the UNAMSIL peacekeepers.
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25 B29 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 17, Testify in Makeni Crime Base Krio
29-34; 38-39. Person.

Delayed Disclosure; This witness will describe the operation
Pseudonym. All counts. 2 hours 30 of security within the RUF and how

min. those who mistreated civilians were dealt
During Testimony: with. The witness will speak of the Board

of investigation. The witness will further
Screening Device. describe the good relations between

Augustine Gbao and civilians. The
witness will confirm that Augustine
Gbao was never a G5 or MP commander
neither did he participate in forced
labour. The witness will describe events
around the abduction of UN
peacekeepers and confirm who was in
fact responsible. The witness will refute
the allegation concerning Augustine
Gbao raping a Lebanese woman and will
identify who was responsible for looting.
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26 B31 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 36- Testify in Makeni Crime Base Krio
39; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; B31 got to know RUF 3rd accused as the
Pseudonym. All counts. 2 hours 30 overall security commander in Makeni.

min. The witness will confirm that Augustine
During Testimony: Gbao protected the rights of civilians; he

made sure that no soldier harassed or
Screening Device. intimidated civilians in anyway and he

certainly did not take part in such
unlawful acts. The witness will give
evidence that Augustine Gbao was never
responsible for any looting or rape,
never used child soldiers and was not
responsible for the arrest of the
UNAMSIL peacekeepers. B31 will
declare that Augustine Gbao always
wanted to investigate matters and solve
problems diplomatically.
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27 B42 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 29- Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Mende
34, 37, 43; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; Counts 1-2; The witness will describe the arrival of
Pseudonym. count 4 para. 4 hours. the RUF troops in Mende Buima.

49; count 12.
During Testimony: The witness knew Augustine Gbao as the

overall IDU commander in Kailahun.
Screening Device. B42 will testify that Augustine Gbao was

protecting the civilians and ensuring that
any crime committed against them
would be punished. According to the
witness, Augustine Gbao was hated by
the other soldiers since he was the one
punishing them. He will also testify that
Augustine Gbao was not in presence of
child soldiers.
The witness will also testify about the
trading activities of the RUF/SL. Finally,
the witness will discuss the 65 killings
that he personally witnessed. Especially
he will testify that Mosquito executed
them of his own initiative without asking
anyone.
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28 B33 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Paragraphs 17, ITestify
29-34, 37, 38-39, Person.
42-43.
Count 6-9, para. I 4 hours.
58.

in I Kailahun Crime Base I Creole

The witness will testify that Augustine
Gbao was openly preventing RUF
members from forcing women to marry.
The witness will testify that Augustine
Gbao personally helped a woman who
would have been married by force
otherwise. The witness will testify that
Augustine Gbao was then introduced to
people as the secretary of Foday Sankoh,
and told publicly that the persons
harassing the local population were not
true RUF members, as the RUF
members were following their ideology.
The witness will state that Augustine
Gbao was preaching ideology to all the
rebels from Liberia as well. The witness
personally testified that Augustine Gbao
was taking measures to investigate the
killing of civilians.
B33 will testify that in Kamaghoda
Augustine Gbao was not with the
fighters but with the civilians.
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29 B51 Prior to Testimony: Count 1; counts Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Mende
3-5 para. 49; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; counts 6-9, The witness will testify on the situation
Pseudonym. para. 58; counts 3 hours. of forced labour in the RUF and

10-11 para. 61; particularly relating to Augustine Gbao.
During Testimony: count 13 paras. Furthermore, the witness will describe

69, 74; count 14 the war effort among the civilians, as
Screening Device. para. 77. well as the relationship between

Augustine Gbao and the civilians.
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30 B54 Prior to Testimony: Paragraph 37; Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Krio
Person.

Delayed Disclosure; Counts 1-2; The witness will testify about the Joint
Pseudonym. count 4, paras. 3 hours. Security Board that was set up to

45,49. investigate the alleged Kamajors.
During Testimony: The witness was also present in Kailahun

when the 65 were executed, and knew
Screening Device. when Augustine Gbao was transferred to

the Kailahun-Kono highway as a
punishment. The witness will testify that
Augustine Gbao was in Kailahun when
the AFRC entered the city (from 1 May
1998 to 31 November 1998).
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31 B35 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 17, Testify in Kailahun Crime Base (Pendembu) Creole
29-34, 37-39, 43; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; Count 1-2; The witness will testify that the accused
Pseudonym. counts 3-5, 3 hours. respected and protected civilians, and

para.49; counts that whenever Augustine Gbao was on
During Testimony: 6-9, para. 58; the training base of Pendembu, no ill

count 10-11, treatment occurred. The witness will
Screening Device. para. 61; count explain that the NPFL got annoyed with

12; count 13, Augustine Gbao as he was criticizing the
para. 74; count viOlations they were committing. The
14 para. 77. witness will testify that Augustine Gbao

punished the soldiers who committed
crimes, and investigated any crime
committed. Finally the witness will
confirm that Augustine Gbao was not
using child soldiers.
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32 B9 Prior to Testimony: Paras. 17, 29-34, Testify in Makeni and Kailahun Crime Base Krio
37-39, 43; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; Counts 1-2; 3-5 The witness will testify that Augustine
Pseudonym. paras. 49 and 3 hours. Gbao was in charge of the ideology part

51; counts 10-11, of the RUF training, during which he
During Testimony: para.65; countl4 insisted upon the fact that the

para.81; counts RUF/AFRC must be respectful of
Screening Device. 15- 18; civilians and civilians' property, as well

as of captured enemies. The witness will
also testify that Augustine Gbao was not
taking part in the fightings. Finally, the
witness will explain that Augustine Gbao
was well liked among civilians and that it
was Kailondo and Martin George who
motivated people to abduct the
peacekeepers, while Augustine Gbao was
totally against it.
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33 B27 Prior to Testimony: Count 12; count Testify in Makeni Crime Base Krio
14 para. 77, 81; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; counts 15-18. The witness was a RUF soldier and was
Pseudonym. 2 hours 30 based in Makeni during the AFRC

min. regime. The witness will confirm that
During Testimony: Augustine Gbao was the IDU

commander. The witness never
Screening Device. witnessed Augustine Gbao using child

soldiers or carrying weapons and knows
that Augustine Gbao was not responsible
for the kidnapping of the UN
peacekeepers. Similarly the witness will
deny Augustine Gbao's involvement in
attacking and stealing from a Lebanese
shop in Makeni.
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34 I B34 Prior to Testimony: I Paragraphs 17, ITestify
29-34, 36-39. Person.

in I Kailahun Crime Base Creole.

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Counts 1-2; I 4 hours.
count 4, para. 45
and 49; count
10-11, para.61;

The witness will describe the entrance of
the RUF when they captured Ngiehun,
stating that no violence has been used.
Rape and looting were prohibited by the
RUF, and the lives of the civilians
continued as before the war. In
Kamaghoda, the witness was present
when Augustine Gbao told the Liberian
fighters not to kill the civilians.
Augustine Gbao personally prevented
the soldiers from executing the witness.
The witness will also confirm that
Augustine Gbao was the overall security
commander (IDV) in Ngiena, where his
role was to make sure the civilians did
not get hurt.
The witness will also testify on the 65
killings, stating that Augustine Gbao did
not give the order to kill them.
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35 B62 Prior to Testimony: Counts 1-2; Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Mendel
counts 6-9 para Person. Krio

Delayed Disclosure; 54; counts 10-11 The witness will talk about bush wives,
Pseudonym. para. 61; coun~ 2 hours 30 raping and looting. The witness also

13 para. 69; min. testified that Augustine Gbao did not
During Testimony: count 14 para used forced labour, neither within the

77. RUF nor for personal use. The witness
Screening Device. will give evidence that Augustine Gbao

had a good relationship with the
civilians. Furthermore, the witness has
personally witnessed that Augustine
Gbao was preventing women from being
raped.
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36 B39 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 17, Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Krio
29-34, 37-39, 43; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; Counts 1-2; The witness will testify that Augustine
Pseudonym. counts 3-5 para. 2 hours 30 Gbao was the overall IDU commander

49; counts 10-11 min. responsible for investigating and
During Testimony: para. 61; count recommending punishments for war

12. criminals, a job he carried out diligently.
Screening Device. The witness will give further testimony

that General Mosquito was responsible
for the killing of 65 people in Kailahun
and that Augustine Gbao never used or
was ever seen in the company of child
soldiers.
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37 I B40 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Paragraphs 17, I Testify
37, 43; Count 1- Person.
2; counts 3-5
para. 49; counts I 4 hours.
6-9 para. 58;
counts 10-11
para. 61; count
12; count 13
para. 69; count
14 para. 77.

in I Kailahun Crime Base I Creole

B40 will testify how Augustine Gbao
advised against looting, harassment,
molestation, and raping of civilians. The
witness will give evidence as to the
existence of an agreement to hold and
molest Augustine Gbao, and that it was
the civilian authorities which hid him.
The witness will also talk about the 65
Killings, explaining that Mosquito made
Augustine Gbao sign a paper for his own
execution to secure the release of
civilians, but that this was not respected.
The witness personally heard Augustine
Gbao saying he would complain to
Sankoh and Mosquito responding that
he did not care. The witness will testify
how Augustine Gbao never went to the
front line or had child soldiers.
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38 B21 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 17, Testify in Makeni Crime Base Krio
29-34,37-39,43. Person.

Delayed Disclosure; This witness will testify that Augustine
Pseudonym. Counts 1-2; 2 hours. Gbao defended the civilians as overall

count 3-5, para. security commander. In addition, the
During Testimony: 51; counts 10- witness will state that Augustine Gbao

11, para. 65. ensured justice when there were
Screening Device. infringements.
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39 I B41 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Paragraph 39; I Testify
Count 1-2; Person.
counts 3-5 para.
45; counts 10- I 3 hours.
11para. 61;
count 12; count
14 para. 77.

in I Ngiema Crime Base I Creole

The witness will explain the motives
behind the revolution by the RUF and its
organization/how it developed. B41 will
give evidence that the role of Augustine
Gbao was to inform the IDU agents as to
the ideology of the movement, where the
protection of the civilians was a central
point. According to the witness
Augustine Gbao was also in charge of the
investigations for crimes committed by
the RUF against the civilians. The
witness will also testify that he has never
seen Augustine Gbao with child soldiers.
Finally the witness will give some insight
as to the trading activities of the RUF.
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40 B24 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 17, Testify in Makeni Crime Base Krio
29-34, 37-39, 43; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; Count 1-2; The witness got to know Augustine Gbao
Pseudonym. count 12; count 2 hours. in Makeni after the 6th January

14. takeover. At the time, the witness knew
During Testimony: Augustine Gbao as the security

commander of RUF/SL. B24 will testify
Screening Device. that a very cordial relationship existed

between Augustine Gbao and the civilian
populace. The witness will give evidence
that Augustine Gbao was responsible for
the security of civilians and never
allowed soldiers or armed men to harass
or intimidate civilians. He was never
seen in the company of child soldiers and
he did not have any associations with
them. The witness will also testify that
Augustine Gbao was never responsible
for any lootings in Makeni.
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41 B46 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Paragraphs 17, I Testify
37,43; Person
Count 1-2;
counts 3-5 para.!2 hours
45; counts 6-9 min.
para. 54; counts
10-11 para. 61;
count 12; count
13 para. 69;
count 14 para.
77.

in I Makeni Crime Base I Krio

The witness, a civilian, personally
30 I witnessed that Augustine Gbao was

helping the civilian population and was
passing laws (which were enforced) in
order to ensure their protection against
rape, looting and stealing. More
specifically the witness has been
personally helped by Augustine Gbao
when his house got looted. B46 also
witnessed that the RUF was providing
food to the civilians. The witness will also
testify that Augustine Gbao did not wear
weapons and was not in presence of child
soldiers.
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42 B55 Prior to Testimony: Counts 1-2; Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Krio
counts 3-5 para. Person.

Delayed Disclosure; 45; counts 6-9 The witness will testify on bush wives,
Pseudonym. para. 54; count 2 hours. rapes, looting forced labour and war

13 para. 69; effort among the civilians.
During Testimony: count 14 para.

77.
Screening Device.

43 Bl Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 17, Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Krio
29-34,37-39,43. Person.

Delayed Disclosure; The witness personally knew Augustine
Pseudonym. Counts 1-2; 4 hours. Gbao. The witness will give an insight

counts 3-5, into Augustine Gbao's character and
During Testimony: para. 45, 49; personality. In addition, the witness will

counts 6-9, describe Augustine Gbao's role in the
Screening Device. para. 54, 58; RUF and in society in general.

counts 10-11,
para. 61; count
12;

The Prosecutor Against Issa Hassan Sesay, Morris KaHon, Augustine Gbao, Case No. SCSL -2004-15-T
Augustine Gbao Witness List
5 March 2007

41 ~

De

~



44 B56 Prior to Testimony: All counts. Testify in Makeni Crime Base Krio
Person.

Delayed Disclosure; The witness will testify that Augustine
Pseudonym. 2 hours. Gbao was not a combatant and was

never involved in any military/war
During Testimony: planning. The witness will give evidence

that Augustine Gbao never went to the
Screening Device. frontline to fight.
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45 B45 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 17, Testify in Makeni Crime Base Krio
37,43; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; Counts 1-2; This witness will describe how civilians
Pseudonym. counts 3-5, 2 hours 30 were well treated by Augustine Gbao

para. 45 and 51; min. and how he would protect them. The
During Testimony: counts 6-9 para. witness will also give evidence that

54 and 57; Augustine Gbao never carried a gun nor
Screening Device. counts 10-11 walked with child combatants.

para. 65; count
12; count 13
para. 69 and 73;
count 14 para.
77 and 81.
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46 B79 Prior to Testimony: Counts 1-2; Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Krio
counts 3-5, person.

Delayed Disclosure; para. 49; counts The witness will provide an insight into
Pseudonym. 6-9, para.58; 4 hours. Augustine Gbao's character and

counts 10-11, behaviour.
During Testimony: para. 61; count The witness will talk about the

13, para. 74; relationship between Augustine Gbao
Screening Device. count 14, para. and the civilians, which was a peaceful

77. one.
In addition, the witness will testify that
Augustine Gbao was not a combatant
and had no child soldiers.
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47 I B47 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Paragraphs 17, I Testify
29-34, 38-39, 43; Person.
Counts 1-2;
counts 3-5 para. I 4 hours.
51; counts 10-11
para. 65; count
12; counts 15-
18.

in I Makeni Crime Base I Krio

The witness will also testify that
Augustine Gbao made clear that they
would be punished if they would harm
civilians. The witness will give evidence
that Augustine Gbao was very effective
in dealing with investigations of matters
reported to him.
The witness also heard Augustine Gbao
complaining about the action taken
against the peacekeepers by the RUF,
stating that it was unnecessary and that
they should have waited for the reaction
of the government and the stake holders
of the peace agreement. The witness also
testifies that the day the peacekeepers
escaped, no fire was fired.
The witness never heard about
Augustine Gbao saying the RUF would
not disarm, nor did he hear about
Augustine Gbao harassing an UN
observer. He will also testify that he
never saw Augustine Gbao with child
combatants. According to the witness,
the deaths of civilians in Makeni were
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due to the air raids, not to the RUF
presence.
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48 B37 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 29- Testify in Mende-Keima, Kailahun and Togo field Mende
34, 36-39, and Person. Crime Base

Delayed Disclosure; 43.
Pseudonym. 2 hours. The witness will give evidence that

All counts, Augustine Gbao was totally against forced
During Testimony: Especially counts marriages and believed in taking the right

6-9, para 58; path. The witness will give an insight on
Screening Device. counts 12. the personal relationship the witness shared

with Augustine Gbao. The witness will also
describe Augustine Gbao's relationship
with civilians and give an insight on his
character. Further on, the witness will
testify that the RUF took care of wounded
Kamajors and that child soldiers were
never sighted with Augustine Gbao in all
the time the witness knew Augustine Gbao.
The witness will finally testify that
Augustine Gbao was not a combatant but
an office worker.
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49

50

B48

B81

Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

All counts
(command
responsibility).
Para. 29-34,
para. 37-38;
Count 13 para.
73.

Paragraph. 35

Testify
Person.

3 hours.

92 bis

in I Makeni Crime Base I Krio

The witness will testify that Bao was
never an MP commander and that he
had nothing to do with forced labour.
The witness will also give evidence that
Augustine Gbao was nothing as far as
the RUF command was concerned.
Finally, the witness will talk about the
various areas of appointment of
Augustine Gbao, and of his
performances in these areas.

The witness will testify on the relationship I English
between Charles Taylor and Augustine
Gbao. More precisely the witness will give
evidence that there were no contact
between them on the topic of diamonds and
weapons.
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51 B30 Prior to Testimony: All counts. Testify in Makeni and Kailahun Crime Base Krio
Person.

Delayed Disclosure; The witness first met Augustine Gbao in
Pseudonym. 3 hours. Kailahun in early 1999, then again in

Makeni in 2000 where he was the overall
During Testimony: security commander; He was seen as the

protector of the civilian population within
Screening Device. the RUF liberated zone. The witness

witnessed the abduction of the UN
peacekeepers, and will testify that
Augustine Gbao was not responsible. The
witness will testify that Augustine Gbao
never used child soldiers; neither did he
use civilians as forced labourers.
Furthermore the witness will give
evidence that Augustine Gbao did not
take part in any looting or rape but
worked for the civilians. Finally the
witness will exonerate Augustine Gbao's
responsibility in the killing of civilians in
Kailahun.
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52 B50 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Paragraphs 33,
38-39;
Count 12; count
13 para. 73;
counts 15-18;

Testify
Person.

4 hours.

in I Makeni Crime Base I Krio

The witness will describe the RUF
abduction of the UNAMSIL
peacekeepers, its cause (forceful
disarmament of RUF soldiers by the
Peacekeepers) and its development. The
witness will testify that Augustine Gbao
was not involved at all into this. He will
testify that Komba Gbundema, Deputy
Battle Field Commander, Colonel Lion,
Frontline Commander, Colonel Ibrahim
Dugbeh, Colonel Vanicious Vanny alias
Kailondo were responsible for the
abduction of the international
peacekeepers in Makeni.
The witness will also testify that
Augustine Gbao has never been in
possession of child combatants and did
not go to the Caritas office to take child
combatants. B50 will also testify that
Augustine Gbao was not involved in the
Lebanese shop incident.

The Prosecutor Against lssa Hassan Sesay, Morris KaHon, Augustine Gbao, Case No. SCSL -2004-15-T
Augustine Gbao Witness List
5 March 2007

50 19
~
~



53 B53 Prior to Testimony: Counts 1-2; Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Krio
counts 6-9 para. Person.

Delayed Disclosure; 54; counts 10-11 The witness will testify about bush wives
Pseudonym. para. 61; count 2 hours. and the alleged raping of women by the

13 para. 69; RUF. The witness will also discuss forced
During Testimony: count 14 para. labour and looting, as well as Augustine

77. Gbao's relationship with the civilians.
Screening Device.

54 B4 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 17; Testify in Makeni Crime Base Krio
29-34; 37; 39; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; 43. Counts 1-2; The witness will describe how Augustine
Pseudonym. counts 3-5 2 hours. Gbao was a disciplinarian who did not

para.51; counts want to see civilians harassed. The
During Testimony: 10-11 para. 65; witness will testify that Augustine Gbao

count 12; 13 was never with child combatants.
Screening Device. para.73; count

14 para. 81.
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55 B73 Prior to Testimony: Paragraph 37; Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Kriol
Counts 1 and 2; Person. Mende

Delayed Disclosure; count 4, paras. The witness will testify that Augustine
Pseudonym. 45,49. 2 hours 30 Gbao obtained the release of 45 people

min. from the group of alleged Kamajors.
During Testimony:

Screening Device.

56 B59 Prior to Testimony: Paragraph 37; Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Krio
Person.

Delayed Disclosure; Counts 1 and 2; The witness will testify that the release of
Pseudonym. count 4, paras. 3 hours. the 45 people has been approved based

45,49. on the recommendation made by
During Testimony: Augustine Gbao. The witness will

therefore testify about the role of
Screening Device. Augustine Gbao regarding the 65

killings, stating that Augustine Gbao did
his best to avoid their execution.
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57 B60 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 17, Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Mendel
37,42,43 ; Person. Krio

Delayed Disclosure; The witness will testify that Augustine
Pseudonym. Counts 1, 2; 2 hours. Gbao was never responsible for forced

counts 3-5 para. labour. More generally the witness will
During Testimony: 45; counts 6-9 talk about rape and looting, as well as

para. 58; counts about the relationship between
Screening Device. 10-11 para. 61; Augustine Gbao and the civilians.

count 13, para.
69; count 14
para. 77.
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58 B58 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 29- Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Krio
34,42-43 ; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; The witness will testify on bush wives,
Pseudonym. Counts 1-2; 2 hours. rape, looting as well as on the

counts 6-9 para. relationship between Augustine Gbao
During Testimony: 54; count 14 and the civilians. The witness will also

para.77. give evidence as to the activities in
Screening Device. Buedu-Defence headquarters.

The witness will also give an insider
picture of the RUF hierarchy.
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59 B36 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Paragraphs 17, I Testify
36 - 39, 43. Person.
Counts 1-2;
counts 3-5, para. I 4 hours.
49; counts 10-11,
para. 61; count
12;

in I Kailahun Crime Base I Creole

The witness will testify that he first came
to know Augustine Gbao in 1998 during
the ECOMOG intervention. Augustine
Gbao was the overall Security
Commander and the bridge between
civilians and soldiers. He moved from
village to village-investigating matters
against civilians and always solved the
problems diplomatically. The witness was
present during the execution of the 65
civilians in Kailahun and will testify that
Augustine Gbao did not make the orders.
The witness will also testify that
Augustine Gbao never used child
soldiers.
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60 B63 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 29- Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Krio
34,36-39. Person.

Delayed Disclosure; The witness will testify on the
Pseudonym. All counts 2 hours 30 independence operations on various

(command min. areas of operations, including for the
During Testimony: responsibility). IDU. The witness will also talk about the

relationship between the various units.
Screening Device. In addition, the witness will testify that

Augustine Gbao was not in full control.
The IDU never gave order but merely
implemented the ones given at a higher
level.
The witness will also describe the
relationship between Augustine Gbao
and the civilian population.
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61 B74 Prior to Testimony: Paragraph 37; Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Mende
Counts 1 and 2; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; count 4, paras. The witness will testify that Augustine
Pseudonym. 45,49. 2 hours 30 Gbao obtained the release of 45 people

min. from the group of alleged Kamajors.
During Testimony:

Screening Device.
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62 B65 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 29- Testify m Kailahun Crime Base Kriol
34, 37-38 and 39. Person. English

Delayed Disclosure; The witness will describe and explain the
Pseudonym. All counts. 2 hours 30 different unit operations within the RUF

mm. organization. The witness will testify that
During Testimony: these units did not report to Augustine

Gbao but to their own commanders, who
Screening Device. then gave reports directly to the leaders.

Therefore the witness will give evidence
that Augustine Gbao can not be held
responsible for what happened within these
unit operations.
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63 B28 Prior to Testimony: All counts. Testify in Makeni Crime Base Krio
Person.

Delayed Disclosure; The witness got to know Augustine Gbao
Pseudonym. 2 hours 30 while in Makeni. Augustine Gbao was

min. the overall RUF Security Commander in
During Testimony: Makeni and his relationship with the

civilian populace was very cordial. The
Screening Device. witness will testify that Augustine Gbao

was basically the defender of the rights
of civilians, protecting their lives and
property; he also protected RUF captives
from intimidation and harassment and
ensured that those soldiers responsible
for such acts were punished. The witness
will describe the workings of the RUF
joint panel and the recommendations it
would make. The witness will testify that
Augustine Gbao was never responsible
for looting, using child soldiers, forced
labour or rape and that he was not
responsible for the kidnapping of the UN
peacekeepers.
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Paragraphs 29-1 Testify
34, 37-38 and 39. Person.

64 I B67 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

All counts.

in I Kailahun Crime Base

The witness will give evidence on the
2 hours 30 I command structure within the RUF.
min. Particularly, the witness will testify that

within this structure, Augustine Gbao was
not important and had no power of his own.

Krio

65 BI0 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Paras. 17,37,421 Testify
and 43; Counts Person.
1-2, count 12,
para. 68. I 2 hours.

in I Makeni Crime Base I Krio

The witness, a civilian, will testify that in
Makeni town, where the three Accuseds
were present, the lives of the civilians
improved a lot. BI0 will also testify
about the good relationship between
Augustine Gbao and the civilian
population in Makeni town as well as on
the absence of child combatants around
Augustine Gbao.
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66 B71 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 33, Testify In Makeni Crime Base Krio
38-39; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; The witness was a RUF commander when
Pseudonym. Counts 15-18; 4 hours. the UN peacekeepers were abducted. The

para. 83. witness will testify that Augustine Gbao
During Testimony: has been informed that the UN

peacekeepers had disarmed the RUF
Screening Device. forcefully, and that some RUF combatants

were secretly being disarmed by the
UNAMSIL. The witness will testify that
Augustine Gbao went to colonel Ngondi in
order to inform him about this fact. The
witness will describe what really happened
in the abduction of the peacekeepers, its
causes, development (who was involved).
More specifically B71 will describe the
role of Augustine Gbao in this event, and
that Augustine Gbao did his best to prevent
the incident.
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67 I B68 I Prior to Testimony: I Paragraphs 29- Testify in I Kailahun Crime Base I Krio
34,37-38 and 39. Person.

Delayed Disclosure;
I All counts.

The witness will describe the role of
Pseudonym. 2 hours 30 Augustine Gbao as IDU commander. In

mill. addition, the witness will give evidence on
During Testimony: I I the command structure within the RUF and

explain that within this structure, Augustine
Screening Device. I I I Gbao was not important.

68 I B7 I Prior to Testimony: I Counts 1-2; Testify in I Makeni Crime Base I Krio
counts 3-5 para. Person.

Delayed Disclosure; 149; count 6-9 The witness will confirm that Augustine
Pseudonym. para. 58; count 2 hours. Gbao always advised to take great care

10-11 para. 61; with civilians and encouraged the
Durin!!: Testimony: I count 12; count civilians. The witness will say that

13 para. 74; Augustine Gbao had no bodyguards or
Screening Device. I count 14 para. child combatants around him.

77.
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69

70

B72

B8

Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Paragraph 37;
Count 1 and 2;
count 4, paras.
45,49.

Command and
individual
responsibility
paragraphs 36 ­
39; Counts 1-2;
counts 3-5 para.
49; count 6-9
para. 58; count
10-11 para. 61;
count 12; count
13 para. 74;
count 14 para.
77.

Testify
Person.

2 hours
min.

Testify
Person.

3 hours.

in I Kailahun Crime Base I Krio/
Mende

The witness will testify that Augustine
30 I Gbao obtained the release of 45 people

from the group of alleged Kamajors.

in I Kailahun Crime Base I Krio

The witness will testify that Augustine
Gbao has never been a MP commander
or a G5 commander but was the overall
security commander. The witness will
also testify that he has never seen any
child combatant around Augustine
Gbao. In addition, B8 will testify that
Augustine Gbao was not present when
the 65 killings occurred and that the
killing has been ordered by Sam
Bockarie to the MPs.
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71 B20 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Para. 17, 29-34, ITestify
37-39, 43; Person.
Counts 1-2;
count 4, para. I 2 hours.
51; counts 6-9,
para. 57; count
12; count 14,
para. 81;
counts 15-18.

in I Makeni Crime Base I Krio

The witness will testify that Augustine
Gbao was the overall security
commander in Makeni. He would
protect the civilian population.
According to the witness, Augustine
Gbao ensured that the rebels did not
engage in unlawful acts such as looting,
rape, and unlawful killings among
others. The witness will testify that
Augustine Gbao investigated such crimes
and ensured that the culprits were
punished. Finally the witness will give
evidence that Augustine Gbao was not
responsible for the kidnapping of the UN
peacekeepers.
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72 B66 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 29- Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Krio
34,37-38 and 39. Person.

Delayed Disclosure; The witness will describe the different unit
Pseudonym. All counts. 2 hours 30 operations within the RUF organization.

min. The witness will testify that these units did
During Testimony: not report to Augustine Gbao but to their

own commanders, who then gave reports
Screening Device. directly to the leaders. The witness will

give evidence that Augustine Gbao can not
be held responsible for what happened
within these unit operations.
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Prior to Testimony: I Paragraphs 33, I Testify
37,38-39; Person.

73 I B 49

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Counts 1-2; I 4 hours.
count 4 paras.
45, 51; count 13,
para. 73; counts
15-18.

in I Makeni Crime Base

B49 was a former teacher, who has been
taken into the RUF custody, as a civilian.
The witness will testify that Augustine
Gbao was not a MP Commander, nor
did he have child combatants.
The witness will also testify about the
UNAMSIL abduction; More specifically,
the witness will give evidence that
Augustine Gbao was not involved but
that Colonel Lion; Kailondo and Komba
Gbundema were responsible for it. More
specifically the witness will give insider
details about this incident, which
followed the forceful disarmament of
RUF soldiers by the peacekeepers.
According to the witness Augustine
Gbao tried to solve the issue
diplomatically but was not listened to.
The witness will also negate the
involvement of Augustine Gbao into
taking child combatants from the
Caritas office. In addition, B49 will give
details as to the administration by the
RUF in the liberated territories,

English
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especially mentioning that the school
attendance and medical care were
facilitated by the RUF. The witness also
states that there was no Lebanese shop in
Makeni at the time Augustine Gbao is
alleged to have looted the shop and
raped the Lebanese woman.
The witness will describe the situation in
the RUF liberated territories. Especially
witness B49 emphasizes that school and
medical care considerably improved at
lli~ ~~

Finally, the witness gives evidence that
Sam Bockarie alias Mosquito had
ordered the killing of the 65, and that
Augustine Gbao was not involved at any
rate since he was in Luawa Baoma,
helping civilians.
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74 B77 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 37 Testify in Kailahun Crime Base Krio
and 43. Person.

Delayed Disclosure; The witness was will talk about forced
Pseudonym. Count 13, para. 3 hours. labour in the G5. The witness will further

74. explain that Augustine Gbao was not
During Testimony: responsible for any forced labour.

The witness will also testify that Augustine
Screening Device. Gbao was not responsible for any trading

activities within the RUF.
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75 B44 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Paragraphs 17: I Testify
29-34, 37, 43, Person.
Counts 1-2;
counts 3-5 para. I 4 hours.
45; counts 6-9
para. 54; counts
10-11 para. 61;
counts 15-18.

in I Makeni Crime Base I Krio

This witness will state that Augustine
Gbao was against harassment of
civilians, molestation, rape and looting.
According to the witness, these things
rarely happened when Augustine Gbao
was around because perpetrators would
be dealt with according to RUF laws.
The witness will speak of those
responsible for the UN abductions. B44
will state how Augustine Gbao was not
there and not happy with what had
happened because he wanted to use
diplomatic means to resolve the problem.
The witness contests that Augustine
Gbao had said that the RUF would not
disarm but insists that he said they
would only disarm on Sankoh's
instructions.
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76 B80 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 29- Testify in Makeni and Kailahun Crime Base Krio/
34, 37-38 and person. English

Delayed Disclosure; 39. The witness will describe the various
Pseudonym. 3 hours. unit operations of the RUF, explaining

All counts the kind of relationship between such
During Testimony: except counts 12 units and Augustine Gbao. The witness

and 15-18. will further explain that Augustine Gbao
Screening Device. had no power/control over these units.

According to the witness, Augustine
Gbao was a "tool" used by the
authorities but did not have any power.

The witness will also testify that
Augustine Gbao was respectful of the
civilians and was not a combatant.
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77 B26 Prior to Testimony: Paragraphs 17, Testify in Makeni Crime Base Krio
29-34, 37-39, 43; Person.

Delayed Disclosure; Count 1-2; The witness came to know RUF 3rd

Pseudonym. counts 3-5, 3 hours. accused after the Lome Peace Accord was
para.51; counts signed. Augustine Gbao was in Makeni at

During Testimony: 6-9, para. 57 the time and responsible for the security
count 10-11, of civilians. The witness personally

Screening Device. para. 65; count witnessed that Augustine Gbao
12; count 13, investigated and punished soldiers
para. 73; count responsible for unlawful acts such as
14, para. 77 and rape, looting, killing, harassing civilians
81; count 15-18. among others. In addition, B26 will

testify that Augustine Gbao was not
responsible for the abduction of the
UNAMSIL peacekeepers and that he
never used child soldiers and was never
seen in their company.
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78 B57 Prior to Testimony: Paragraph 37; Testify III Kailahun Crime Base Krio
Person.

Delayed Disclosure; Counts 1 and 2; The witness personally witnessed when the
Pseudonym. counts 3-4 paras. 3 hours. 65 Kamajors were killed. The witness will

45,49. also describe Sam Bockarie ("Mosquito") as
During Testimony: a tough man who always did what he said he

would. The witness will explain that anyone
Screening Device. who would oppose to Sam Bockarie would

face severe consequences.
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79 B38 Prior to Testimony:

Delayed Disclosure;
Pseudonym.

During Testimony:

Screening Device.

Paragraphs 17, I Testify
29-34, 37, 39, Person.
43; Counts 1-2;
counts 3-5, I 3 hours.
para. 45; counts
6-9 para. 54; lO-
II para. 61.

in I Ngiema Crime Base I Krio

The witness will testify that Augustine
Gbao was the overall IDU commander
and his main function was to act as the
middleman between civilians and
soldiers, he was responsible for making
decisions in regard to disputes between
soldiers and civilians and also to ensure
that the civilians are not harassed,
molested or any crimes committed
against them. The witness will give
evidence that Augustine Gbao carried
out investigations and tried to track war
criminals.
In addition, the witness will testify that
Augustine Gbao meticulously followed
all his duties and never committed any
crimes. He cared about the civilians and
ensured that soldiers were punished for
doing anything wrong to the civilians.
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Annex B

EXHIBIT LIST

Pursuant to Rule 73ter (iv)
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DFGIEXHIl Set of 46 photographs of Kailahun, showing the route from Augustine 08.01.2007 Photographs.
Gbao's house via Kailahun town roundabout to the raven behind the
police barracks.

DFGlEXHl2 Comprehensive situation report, as compiled by the military police 27.03.1999 Internal RUF Report.
unit AHQ, Makeni, for the month of February through 20 th March
1999, from the Deputy Overall Military Police Commander to the
chief of Defence Staff, Defence HQ.
ERN 00025511- 00025518.

DFGlEXH/3 Memo from the 2na Brigade IOU Commander- Makeni, RUF/SL, 03.02.1999 Internal RUF Memo.
Office of the Internal Defence Unit.
ERN 00025525-00025527

DFGIEXH/4 Situation report from Security Personnel (1.0 Unit) 2na Brigade, to the 30.01.99 Internal RUF Report.
B.F.C, RUF/SL.
ERN 00025530-00025532

DFGIEXH/5 Information/Request for action, from Military Police HQ- Makeni to 27.01.99 Internal RUF Communication.
Intelligence Unit Commander- Makeni, RUF/SL.
ERN 00025674-00025674

DFGlEXH/6 Comprehensive MP Report as of 1i h January 1999 to 11 th February 11.02.1999 Internal RUF Report.
1999, RUF/SL, from Deputy Overall MP Commander to Defence
Staff.
ERN 00025717-00025717
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DFGlEXHl7 Letter from the Overall MP Commander to the Field Commander, 20.04.2000 Internal RUF Communication.
confirming receipt of three reports on the harassment of civilians in
Makeni.
ERN 00025702-0002703

DFGIEXH/8 Reported Cases brought into the MP office Makeni, as of 21 5t January February Internal RUF Report.
1999, with an indication of proposed retributive measures. 1999
ERN 0002-5676-0002-5678

DFGIEXH/9 Photographs of the RUF headquarters in Makeni. November Photographs.
2006

DFGIEXH/lO Photographs of the site of reception center and of the DDR camp in November Photographs.
Magburaka. 2006

DFGIEXH/ll Photographs of the site of the UN peacekeepers' attacks at November Photographs.
waterworks. 2006

DFGlEXHl12 Photographs of the cafe where Augustine Gbao mingled with November Photographs.
civilians in Makeni. 2006

The Prosecutor Against Issa Hassan Sesay, Morris Kallon, Augustine Gbao, Case No. SCSL -2004-15-T
Gbao Exhibit List
5 March 2007

3

lQ(
oa
~

~



Annex C

INDICTMENT CHART
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Paragraph 17
Bl, B2, B3, B4, B9, BI0, B18, B19, B20, B21,
B22, B24, B26, B28, B29, B30, B32, B33, B34,
B35, B36, B38, B39, B40, B43, B44, B45, B46,
B47, B60, B69, B75, B78.

Paragraphs 19, 29 Bl, B2, B3, B4, B9, B14, B15, B16, B17, B19, OFG/EXHl2, OFG/EXH/3, OFG/EXHl4,
B20, B21, B22, B23, B24, B26, B29, B33, B34, OFG/EXH/5, OFG/EXH/6, OFG/EXHl7,
B35, B37, B38, B39, B42, B43, B44, B47, B48, OFG/EXHl8.
B52, B58, B61, B63, B64, B65, B75, B76, B78,
B80, B82.

Paragraph 30 Bl, B3, B4, B9, B14, B15, B16, B17, B19, B20,
B21, B23, B24, B33, B35, B43, B64, B65, B75,
B76, B78, B80, B82.

Paragraph 31 Bl, B2, B9, B15, B16, B17, B21, B22, B33, B34,
B35, B37, B38, B39, B42, B37, B39, B42, B52,
B61, B63, B64, B65, B75, B76, B78, B80, B82.

Paragraph 32 Bl, B2, B3, B4, B9, B14, B15, B16, B17, B19, OFG/EXHl2, OFG/EXH/3, OFG/EXHl4,
B20, B21, B22, B23, B24, B26, B29, B33, B34, OFG/EXHl5, OFG/EXH/6, OFG/EXHl7,
B35, B37, B38, B39, B42, B43, B44, B47, B48, OFG/EXHl8.
B52, B58, B61, B63, B64, B75, B76, B78, B80,
B82.

Paragraph 33 B14, B3, B4, B9, B14, B19, B20, B21, B22, B23, OFG/EXHl2, OFG/EXH/3, OFG/EXH/4,
B24, B26, B29, B43, B44, B47, B48, B49, B50, OFG/EXHl5, DFG/EXH/6, OFG/EXHl7,
B52, B61, B64, B70, B82. OFG/EXHl8.

Paragraph 34 Bl, B2, B3, B4, B9, B15, B16, B17, B19, B20, DFG/EXHl2, DFG/EXH/3, DFG/EXHl4,
B21, B22, B23, B24, B26, B29, B33, B34, B35, DFG/EXHl5, DFG/EXH/6, DFG/EXHl7,
B37, B38, B39, B42, B43, B44, B47, B48, B52, DFG/EXHl8.
B58, B61, B63, B64, B65, B75, B76, B78, B80,
B82.
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Paragraph 35 B81.

Paragraphs 36 Bl, B2, B3, B4, B5, B6, B8, B9, BI0, Bll, B15, DFG/EXH/2, DFGIEXH/3, DFGIEXH/4,
and 37 BI7,BI8, B19, B20, B21, B22, B23, B24, B26, DFG/EXH/5, DFGIEXH/6, DFG/EXH/7,

B29, B31, B32, B33, B34, B35, B36, B37, B38, DFG/EXH/8.
B39, B40, B42, B43, B44, B45, B46, B48, B49,
B52, B54, B57, B59, B60, B61, B63, B64, B65,
B69, B72, B73, B74, B75, B76, B78, B80, B81,
B82.

Paragraph 38 Bl, B2, B5, B6, B8, Bll, B15, B18, B19, B20, DFG/EXH/l, DFG/EXH/2 DFG/EXH/3
B21, B22, B23, B24, B26, B29, B31, B33, B34, DFG/EXH/4 DFGIEXH/5 DFG/EXH/6
B35, B36, B37, B39, B47, B49, B50, B52, B61, DFG/EXH/7 DFGIEXH/8.
B63, B64, B65, B70, B71, B75, B76, B78, B80,
B82.

Paragraph 39 Bl, B2, B4, B5, B6, Bll, B15, B18, B19, B20, DFG/EXH/l, DFG/EXH/2, DFG/EXH/3,
B21, B22, B23, B24, B26, B29, B31, B33, B34, DFG/EXH/4, DFGIEXH/5, DFG/EXH/6,
B35, B36, B37, B38, B39, B41, B47, B48, B49, DFG/EXH/7, DFG/EXH/8, DFG/EXH/13.
B50, B52, B61, B63, B64, B65, B70, B71, B80,
B82.

Paragraph 41 All witnesses. DFG/EXH/I0,DFGIEXHI11, DFGIEXH/12.

Paragraph 42 BI0, B33, B58, B60, B69.
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Paragraph 43 Bl, B3, B4, B9, BI0, B18, B19, B20, B21, B22,
B24, B26, B32, B33, B35, B36, B37, B38, B39,
B40, B42, B43, B44, B45, B46, B47, B58, B60,
B69, B77, B82.

Counts 1 and 2: Paragraph 44 Bl, B2, B3, B4, B5, B6, B7, B8, B9, BI0, B14, DFG/EXH/l, DFG/EXH/2, DFG/EXH/3,
Terrorising Civilian B17, Bl~ B19, B2~ B21, B2~ B2~ B2~ B27, DFG/EXH/4, DFGIEXH/5, DFG/EXH/6,
Population and B29, B 30, B31, B32, B34, B35, B36, B37, B38, DFG/EXH/7, DFGIEXHl8, DFG/EXH/9,
Collective B39, B40, B41, B42, B43, B44, B45, B46, B47, DFG/EXH/13.
Punishments B49, B51, B52, B53, B54, B55, B56, B57, B58,

B59, B60, B61, B62, B63, B64, B65, B66, B68,
B69, B72, B73, B74, B76, B78, B79, B80, B82.

Counts 3 - 5: Paragraph 45 Bl, B2, B22, B28, B29, B 30, B31, B34, B36, B37, DFG/EXH/l.
Unlawful Killings B38, B41, B43, B44, B45, B46, B49, B52, B54,

B55, B56, B57, B59, B60, B61, B72, B73, B74,
B82.

Paragraph 46

Paragraph 47

Paragraph 48
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Paragraph 49 Bl, B2, B5, B6, B7, B8, B9, B22, B 30, B34, B35, DFG/EXHII.
B36, B39, B40, B42, B51, B52, B54, B57, B59,
B63, B64, B65, B66, B68, B72, B73, B74, B76,
B78, B79, B80, B82.

Paragraph 50

Paragraph 51 B3, B4, B9, B14, B15, B17, B20, B21, B22, B26, DFG/EXH/2, DFGIEXH/3, DFG/EXHl4,
B28, B29, B 30, B31, B32, B45, B47, B49, B80, DFG/EXHl5, DFGIEXH/6, DFG/EXHl7,
B82. DFG/EXH/8, DFG/EXH/9, DFG/EXHI13.

Paragraph 52

Paragraph 53

Counts 6 -9: Paragraph 54 Bl, B2, Bll, B28, B29, B 30, B31, B33, B37, B38,
Sexual Violence B43, B44, B45, B46, B53, B55, B56, B58, B61,

B62, B82.

Paragraph 55

Paragraph 56

Paragraph 57 B11, B19, B20, B26, B27, B29, B 30, B31, B32, DFG/EXHl2, DFGIEXH/3, DFG/EXHl4,
B45, B80, B82. DFG/EXHl5, DFG/EXH/6, DFG/EXHl7,

DFG/EXHl8.
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Paragraph 58 Bl, B2, B6, B7, B8, Bll, B 30, B33, B35, B37,
B40, B51, B60, B63, B64, B65, B66, B67, B68,
B69, B79, B80, B82.

Paragraph 59

Paragraph 60

Counts 10 - 11: Paragraph 61 Bl, B2, B6, B7, B8, Bll, B28, B29, B 30, B31,
Physical Violence B34, B35, B36, B37, B38, B39, B40, B41, B43,

B44, B46, B51, B53, B56, B60, B61, B62, B63,
B64, B65, B66, B67, B69, B76, B78, B79, B80,
B82.

Paragraph 62

Paragraph 63

Paragraph 64

Paragraph 65 B3, B4, B9, B11, B17, B21, B26, B28, B29, B 30, DFG/EXHl2, DFGIEXH/3, DFG/EXHl4,
B31, B32, B45, B47, B80, B82. DFG/EXHl5, DFGIEXH/6, DFG/EXHI7,

DFG/EXHl8, DFG/EXH/9, DFG/EXH/13.

Paragraph 66

Paragraph 67
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Count 12: Paragraph 68 Bl, B2, B3, B4, B6, B7, B8, BI0, Bll, B19, B20,
Use of Child Soldiers B23, B24, B26, B27, B29, B 30, B31, B32, B35,

B36, B37, B39, B40, B41, B42, B45, B46, B47,
B50, B56, B61, B63, B64, B65, B67, B68, B82.

Count 13: Paragraph 69 B2, B28, B29, B 30, B31, B37, B40, B45, B46,
Abductions and B51, B53, B55, B56, B60, B61, B62, B82.
Forced Labour

Paragraph 70

Paragraph 71

Paragraph 72

Paragraph 73 B3, B4, B18, B26, B28, B29, B 30, B31, B32, B45, DFG/EXHl2, DFG/EXH/3, DFG/EXHl4,
B48, B49, B50, B80, B82. DFG/EXHl5, DFGIEXH/6, DFG/EXHl7,

DFG/EXHl8, DFG/EXH/9, DFGIEXH/13.

Paragraph 74 B2, B6, B7, B8, B 30, B35, B51, B63, B64, B65,
B66, B67, B68, B69,B76, B78, B79, B80, B82.

Paragraph 75

Paragraph 76

Count 14: Paragraph 77 B2, B6, B7, B8, B24, B26, B27, B27, B29, B 30,
Looting and Burning B31, B35, B37, B40, B41, B45, B46, B51, B53,

B55, B56, B58, B60, B61, B62, B63, B64, B65,
B66, B67, B68, B69, B79, B80, B82.
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Paragraph 78

Paragraph 79

Paragraph 80

Paragraph 81 B3, B4, B9, B16, B17, B19, B20, B26, B28, B27, DFG/EXH/2, DFGIEXH/3, DFG/EXH/4,
B29, B 30, B31, B32, B45, B80, B82. DFG/EXH/5, DFG/EXH/6, DFG/EXH/7,

DFG/EXH/8, DFG/EXH/9, DFGIEXH/13.

Paragraph 82

Counts 15 - 18: Paragraph 83 B2, B6, B9, B14, B20, B22, B23, B26, B28, B27, DFG/EXH/10,DFGIEXH/11, DFG/EXH/12.
Attacks on B29, B 30, B31, B32, B37, B44, B47, B49, B50,
UNAMSIL Personnel B56, B61, B63, B64, B65, B66, B67, B68, B70,

B71, B75, B82.
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